NO. 47736-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ALEXANDER KNIGHT,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Scott Collier, Judge

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in admitting hearsay statements made by the complaining witness which were not admissible pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120 and *State v. Ryan.* ¹
- 2. Insufficient evidence was presented to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant Alex Knight had sexual contact with M.P., an essential element of the offense of child molestation in the first degree.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court err in admitting the hearsay statements made by the complaining witness M.P. under RCW 9A.44.120 and *State v. Ryan*, to law enforcement and to her mother, where the child's statements were recorded by members of law enforcement for purposes of the criminal case, and were therefore in no way spontaneous, where there was a reasonable possibility that the witness had a motive to lie before and after the police were contacted, and where, under all the facts, the circumstances surrounding the utterance of the statements failed to establish reliability required by *Ryan*? Assignment of Error 1.
 - 2. The due process provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment to

¹State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 691 P.2d 197 (1984).

the United States Constitution and of Article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution require the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged. The appellant was convicted of child molestation in the first degree. An essential element of the crime of child molestation in the first degree is sexual contact. Where, as here, the alleged sexual contact was over M.P.'s clothing, the State is required to establish the contact was for the purpose of sexual gratification. In the absence of evidence to establish sexual gratification, was Mr. Knight's right to due process violated when he was convicted of child molestation in the first degree? Assignment of Error 2.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural facts:

Alex Knight was charged in Clark County Superior Court by information with one count child molestation in the first degree. RCW 9A.44.083. Clerk's Papers (CP) 1. Mr. Knight's first trial before the Honorable Scott Collier occurred in November, 2014. 2-4RP at 194-537. ² The court

²The record of proceedings consists of eight volumes and is designated as follows:

¹RP July 11, 2014, (arraignment), November 17, 2014, (RCW 9A.44.120 hearing, CrR 3.5 hearing);

²RP November 18, 2014, (first jury trial);

³RP November 18, 2014, (first jury trial);

⁴RP November 19, 2014, (first jury trial);

⁵RP December 2, 2014, December 5, 2014, December 31, 2014, March 10, 2015,

declared a mistrial after the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict. 4RP at 535.

The court heard pre-trial motions on November 17, 2014, pertaining to the State's motion to admit M.P.'s statements made to her mother and also to law enforcement in a recorded interview. The court also heard testimony pursuant to CrR 3.5 regarding Mr. Knight's statements to Detective Julie Carpenter and Officer Mark Brinksi. 1RP (11/17/14) at 13-142.

a. CrR 3.5 hearing:

The court heard argument pertaining to CrR 3.5 on November 17, 2014. 1RP at 116-42. Officer Brinski stated that while responding to a call regarding a possible molestation he contacted a person in the yard of Mr. Alexander's house, and told that person he was looking for Mr. Knight. Mr. Knight came out of the house and spoke with the Detective while standing in the driveway. 1RP at 119, 122. Detective Brinski asked Mr. Knight if he wanted to make a written statement and he agreed to do so. 1RP at 123. Mr. Knight completed a written statement. 1RP at 123. The detective testified that he was wearing his uniform when he talked with Mr. Knight. 1RP at

⁽motion hearings);

⁶RP April 13, April 14, 2015, (second jury trial),

⁷RP April 14, 2015, (second jury trial);=,

⁸RP April 15, 2015, (second jury trial); May 29, 2015, (sentencing).

123. He stated that he did not advise him that he was under arrest and did not tell him that he was free to leave. RP at 119.

Officer Brinski testified that later that day he interviewed M.P. again, spoke with another neighbor, and then returned to Mr. Knight's house and placed him under arrest. 1RP at 125.

After he was arrested, Mr. Knight was transported to the Vancouver Police Department, where he was questioned by Detective Watkins. 1RP (11/17/14) at 129. Detective Julie Carpenter read Mr. Knight his *Miranda* warnings and then was questioned. 1RP (11/17/14) at 130-34. When asked if he wanted to talk, Mr. Knight stated: "I don't know now. Yes and no. I just—I don't—I guess, yeah. It will help you guys." 1RP (11/17/14) at 134.

After hearing testimony, the Court found that Mr. Knight's statements to Officer Blinski at his house and his statement to Detective Carpenter at the police station were voluntarily made and were admissible. 1RP (11/17/14) at 142. No written findings of fact and conclusions of law have been entered.

b. RCW 9A.44.120 hearing:

The court heard the State's motion to introduce M.P.'s statements to her mother and her recorded statement to Detective Deanna Watkins and Detective Carpenter. 1RP at 31-106. Defense counsel did not challenge

M.P.s competency to testify. 1RP at 94.

Truly Parsons testified that she is the mother of M.P., who was born March 8, 2005. 1RP at 15. She stated that at approximately 3:00 p.m., June 28, 2014, M.P. returned home after playing at her friend K.K.'s house. She stated that about 45 minutes later K. and a man came to her front door. 1RP at 17. The man was identified as Alex Knight, who is K.K.'s uncle. 1RP at 17. K.K. wanted to ask M.P. a question and M.P. said 'no." 1RP at 17. Mr. Knight and K.K. then left. 1RP at 18. Ms. Parsons stated that M.P. said that Mr. Knight "touched [her] butt" and that he tried to kiss her. 1RP at 18. M.P. testified that when she was playing at her friend K.'s house. 1 RP at 25. She stated that K.'s dad, Chris Knight, went to the store, leaving her with his brother Alex Knight, who had come over to visit. RP at 25. She said that he touched her behind and that he asked her to give him a kiss. 1RP at 26.

M.P. said the she left the house and went back to her house and Mr. Knight and K.K. came to her house later that afternoon. 1RP at 27.

The court admitted all of the child hearsay witnesses over objection by defense counsel who agreed that the *Ryan* factors had not been met. 1RP at 114.

b. Second trial, conviction, and sentencing:

Following Mr. Knight's second trial before the Honorable Scott Collier in April 2015, a jury found Mr. Knight guilty of first degree child molestation as charged. 8RP at 922; CP 17.

Counsel for Mr. Knight unsuccessfully argued for judgment notwithstanding the verdict based on insufficient evidence to support the elements of the offense, referencing his previous augment made at the conclusion of the State's case in chief. 8RP at 928.

The parties agreed that Mr. Knight had an offender score of "3," with a standard range of 67 to 89 months. 8RP at 939. After hearing argument, the court imposed a standard range sentence of 89 months, with credit for 201 days served, and four "crime-related prohibitions" contained in Appendix F of the Judgment and Sentence. 8RP at 946; CP 130.

Timely notice of appeal was filed on June 26, 2015. CP 156. This appeal follows.

2. Trial testimony:

M.P. lived with her mother in a duplex in Vancouver, Washington. 6RP at 647. M.P.'s mother stated that her daughter would frequently go to her neighbor Chris Knight's house to play with his daughters, A.K. and K. K. 1RP at 648, 649.

Brandy Jennings, a neighbor of M.P., stated that on June 28, 2014, she

saw M.P. running out of a duplex and going back toward her own house. 6RP at 629. Ms. Jennings said that she also saw a man run out of the same duplex—while calling after her and using hand gestures—and that he tried to talk to M.P. 6RP at 630-31. She stated that M.P. did not appear to want to stop and talk to him. 6RP at 631. She said that M.P. briefly paused but that she was unable to hear what the man said to M.P. 6RP at 632.

Ms. Jennings she later texted with M.P.'s mother about the incident after she saw police cars in front of the house where M.P. lived with her mother. 6RP at 634. Exhibits 16 and 17. She identified the man she saw on June 28 as Alex Knight. 6RP at 637.

Ms. Jennings stated it was not unusual to see M.P. running in the neighborhood, but that she had not previously texted M.P.'s mother on those occasions. 6RP at 639, 644.

M.P. testified that she played with her friend K. and A. at their father's house the previous summer. 6RP at 673-74. She said while she was there with K. and K.'s father and Alex Knight, who is the uncle of K. and A. 6RP at 674. She said that Chris Knight left the house and that she was alone with Alex Knight in the living room. 6RP at 676. She said that he picked her up and put her on his lap and "started rubbing on her butt." 6RP at 678. When asked where he rubbed, she stated "I don't remember where exactly,

but he was, like, getting closer and closer to my perineum." 6RP at 678. M.P. explained that the perineum is the area "between your private area and your butt." 6RP at 678. She stated that she learned the term when she and her mother looked it up on the internet. 6RP at 678.

M.P. testified that she did not remember how long this contact took place and how many times his hand had moved. 6RP at 679. She stated that he then asked her to kiss him and that she hopped off his lap at that point. 6RP at 679. She testified that she did not kiss him. RP at 680. After that she sat alone on the couch in the living room and waited for Chris Knight to return. 6RP at 680. She walked home and on the way and she stopped because Alex Knight was calling her name. 6RP at 682. After he returned she stopped briefly but did not talk to him, and then continued to her house. 6RP at 682.

When she got home she sat on the couch. Later she heard a knock and saw Alex Knight and K. at the door to their house. She said that she was asked if she wanted to go outside and play and she told her mother "no." 6RP at 685.

Truly Parsons, M.P.'s mother testified that on June 28 M.P. went to play at K.'s house. 6RP at 649. M.P. came back after an hour and sat on the couch and watched television. 6RP at 651. Approximately 45 minutes later

Mr. Knight and K. came to their house and asked if M.P. was there. 6RP at 654-57. She stated that K. wanted to ask M.P. a question, and she said that she said "no," that she did not want to talk. 6RP at 657. K. and Mr. Knight walked away from the house. 6RP at 657. After they left, her mother asked what was going on, and M.P. said that Chris Knight's brother touched her on the rear and tried to kiss her. 6RP at 659.

Ms. Parsons called the police who arrived ten to fifteen minutes later. 6RP at 660. M.P. was subsequently taken to the police station where she was interviewed by detectives. 6RP at 660.

Police interviewed M.P. on June 28, 2014.³ M.P. told police that she was visiting her friend K.K, who was three years old at the time. 7RP at 721, 723. She said that K. and her father went to the store, leaving her with K.'s uncle, Alex Knight. 7RP at 721. She said that as she was leaving, Alex Knight called her over and asked if they could still be friends." 7RP at 738. She said that when K. when to her room to change, Mr. Knight touched her and then then told her to kiss him. 7RP at 721, 729, 732. She said that he pulled her onto his lap and rubbed her on her bottom with his hand. 7RP at 734-35. She told police that this lasted for about ten seconds. 7RP at 739.

³A recording of the interview with M.P. was played to the jury on April 14, 2015. 7RP at 718-752.

After he told her to kiss him, she got off his lap and went to sit on the couch until K.'s father returned from the store. 7RP at 736. After K.'s father got back, she said that she had to go home to help her mother with shopping. 7RP at 737. M.P. said that Mr. Knight lived several blocks away from K.'s house, and that he would occasionally babysit, but that it was the first time that she had been left alone with him. 7RP at 723. M.P. told police that during the incident that as Mr. Knight moved his hand it got closer and closer to her "perineum," which she described as the area between the anus and vaginal area. 7RP at 723. She said that she returned to her house and sat in the living room on the couch with K. and Mr. Knight came to the house. 7RP at 724. After Mr. Knight left, M.P. told her mother that he had touched her. 7RP at 725-26.

At the conclusion of the State's case in chief, the defense moved to dismiss the charge, arguing that the State failed to prove that any touching of M.P. was for the purpose of sexual gratification. 7RP at 761. The court ruled that the buttocks can considered a "sexual part of the body." 7RP at 762.

Chris Knight, Alex Knight's brother, testified that M.P. is his neighbor and that she is close friends with his daughters A. and K. 7RP at 785. He testified that on June 28, 2014, M.P. came over to his house to see his daughter K., and Alex arrived later. 7RP at 786. Chris Knight left to

drive to a nearby convenience store, while his brother, K. and M.P. remained at the house. 7RP at 786. He said that he bought only cigars, and that there was no line and he was able to pay for the items immediately. 7RP at 787. He testified that the store was located two to three blocks from his house and that he was gone from the house for a total of two to three and a half minutes. 7RP at 787, 790, 791. After he returned from the store, K., M.P. and his brother were in the living room, just as they had been when he left. 7RP at 788. K. did not appear to have had a bath, as M.P. had stated to police. RP at 788. Chris Knight stated that after he returned from the store, M.P. left and went back to her own house. 7RP at 789. He stated that nothing seemed unusual or out of the ordinary. 7RP at 789.

Alex Knight testified that he walked from his house to his brother's house on June 28, 2014, between 11 a.m. and noon. 7RP at 793. He said that M.P. and K. were playing and running in and out of the house while he was playing games on a computer in the living room. 7RP at 794. Chris left to go to the convenience store and he and K. and M.P. were in the living rom. 7RP at 794. K. was not in the bath tub and she did not take a bath while Chris was gone. 7RP at 794. Mr. Knight stated that the girls were both running around and he was laughing and joking with them and he tickled M.P. when they were playing. 7RP at 795. He said that M.P. kissed him, and that after that

he immediately stepped back and told her that it was inappropriate and that she should not be kissing anyone except people in her family. 7RP at 795, He said that after she kissed him and admonished her, he sent her home. 7RP at 800. He denied that the touched M.P.'s bottom. He said that his brother was gone not more than three to four minutes and probably less than that. 7RP at 796. He said that the store was nearby and that he could walk there in five minutes. 7RP at 796. He said that after he told her go home, M.P. was pulling on her shoes and getting ready to leave when Chris returned from the store in his pickup truck. 7RP at 797, 801. Approximately half an hour to 45 minutes after M.P. left, Alex Knight walked with K. to M.P.'s house. 7RP at 797-98. He testified that K. wanted to invite M.P. to go for a walk because it was a nice day. 7RP at 798. He said that his brother suggested that they go to a nearby park to walk. 7RP at 799. Mr. Knight and K. walked to M.P.'s house. At her house, M.P. first stood behind her mother and then went and sat on a couch, 7RP at 799. When asked, she said that she did not want to come out and that she did not like Mr. Knight. 7RP at 800. He denied that he asked M.P. if they were still friends when he went to her house later that day. 7RP at 802.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS

DISCRETION IN ADMITTING M.P.'S HEARSAY STATEMENTS UNDER RCW 9A.44.120 AND STATE V. RYAN.

a. The trial courts erroneous ruling resulted in the introduction of otherwise admissible testimony.

Hearsay by a child under age ten describing sexual contact is admissible if the time, content and circumstances of the statements bear sufficient indicia of reliability. RCW 9A.44.120(a)(1); *State v. Ryan*, 103 Wn.2d 165, 174, 691 P.2d 197 (1984). See *also In re Dependency of A.E.P.*, 135 Wn.2d 208, 226, 956 P.2d 297 (1998).

A child need not be testimonially competent in order for her out-of-court statements to be reliable; the analysis is different. *State v. C.J.*, 672, 681, 63 P.3d 765 (2003). The competency determination looks forward to see if the child will be able to participate fully in cross examination. The hearsay exception, on the other hand, looks back to the making of the statement for evidence the statement is trustworthy. *C.J.*, 148 Wn.2d at 683.

This finding of reliability is required because the child hearsay statute is not a firmly rooted hearsay exception, thus, the Confrontation Clause concerns mandate a showing that the statements have particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. *State v. Slider*, 38 Wn. App. 689, 696, 688 P.2d 538 (1984). See also *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 486, 794 P.2d

38 (1990) (admission of hearsay without sufficient indicia of reliability violates defendant's right of confrontation). Following a pre-trial hearing, the trial court ruled that M.P.'s hearsay statement was admissible under *State v. Ryan.* 1RP at 108-114.

The child's mother and Detective Carpenter were permitted to testify to hearsay statements pursuant to the court's hearsay ruling. Truly Parsons testified that M.P. told her that Mr. Knight touched her rear with his hand and told her to kiss him. 6RP at 659-60. Detective Carpenter testified that she and Detective Watkins interviewed M.P. at the Vancouver Police Station on June 28, 2014. 1RP at 43, 53. Detective Carpenter stated that M.P. said that Mr. Knight "was tickling her, and he lifted her, put her on his lap, and proceeded to use his hand to rub her bottom," and that he asked her to kiss him. 7RP at 717. A portion of the interview was played to the jury. 7RP at 718-752. Exhibit 14.

When the State seeks to introduce an alleged child sex offense victim's hearsay statements under RCW 9A.44.120, the trial court must determine if the time, content, and circumstances of the statements provide sufficient indicia of reliability. RCW 9A.44.120(1). The statute requires a showing that the statements manifest reliability. RCW 9A.44.120 provides in part:

A statement made by a child when under the age of

ten describing any act of sexual contact performed with or on the child by another . . ., not otherwise admissible by statute or court rule, is admissible in evidence in . . . criminal proceedings . . . in the courts of the state of Washington if:

- (1) The court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability; and
- (2) The child either: (a) Testifies at the proceedings; or (b) Is unavailable as a witness[.]

RCW 9A.44.120.

b. The trial court's ruling must be reviewed under the criteria established in *State v. Ryan*:

Ryan and subsequent cases identify nine nonexclusive factors that aid the trial courts in making the "reliability" determination required by under RCW 9A.44.120(1).

The nine *Ryan* factors, which are derived from *State v. Parris*, 98 Wn.2d 140, 146, 654 P.2d 77 (1982), and *Dutton v. Evans*, 400 U.S. 74, 88-89, 91 S. Ct. 210, 27 L. Ed. 2d 213 (1970) are: (1) apparent motive to lie; (2) child's general character; (3) number of witnesses to the statement; (4) whether the statement was spontaneous or elicited in response to questions; (5) timing of the statement and witness's relationship to the child; (6) whether the statement asserts past facts; (7) whether cross-examination could show the child's inability to understand the alleged act; (8) likelihood that the child's recollection is faulty;

and (9) whether the circumstances suggest the child misrepresented the defendant's involvement. *Ryan*, 103 Wn.2d at 175-76. See *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 652, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991); *Dutton v. Evans*, 400 U.S. 74, 88-89, 91 S.Ct. 210, 219, 27 L.Ed.2d 213 (1970). The trial court need not find that every factor supports reliability; however, the court must conclude that these factors are substantially met. *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d at 652.

This Court reviews a child hearsay ruling for abuse of discretion. Woods, 154 Wn.2d at 623. The court's findings must be based on substantial evidence. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 128, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). Not every factor need be satisfied, but they must be "substantially met." Woods, 154 Wn.2d at 623-24. The statement's reliability must be evident in the record. State v. Stevens, 58 Wn. App. 478, 487, 794 P.2d 38 (1990).

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