NO. 47736-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

ALEXANDER PAUL ANDREW KNIGHT, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-01267-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting M.P.'s statements to her mother and the detectives pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120.

Knight alleges the trial court abused its discretion in admitting statements by the victim pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120. The trial court properly considered the relevant legal standard and the record and properly admitted M.P.'s statements at trial. Knight's claim fails.

On appeal, the Court reviews a trial court's admission of a child's statements under RCW 9A.44.120 for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 112, 265 P.3d 863 (2011); *State v. Hischfield*, 99 Wn.App. 1, 3, 987 P.2d 99 (1999). A trial court abuses its discretion "only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable reasons or grounds." *State v. C.J.*, 148 Wn.2d 672, 686, 63 P.3d 765 (2003). Knight argues the trial court below abused its discretion in finding the statements M.P. made to her mother and to the detectives in this case were admissible under RCW 9A.44.120.

RCW 9A.44.120 provides that statements made by a child victim who is under the age of ten, that describe any act of sexual contact are admissible in criminal proceedings if the court finds that the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability and the child either testifies, or is unavailable and there is corroboration. RCW 9A.44.120. The trial court below admitted M.P.'s statements to her mother and the two detectives pursuant to this statute. M.P. was available and testified at trial. Knight was able to fully confront M.P. about her testimony on the stand and her statements to her mother and the detectives. The trial court properly found the time, content and circumstances of the statements M.P. made were reliable and admissible under RCW 9A.44.120.

The statements made by M.P. were reliable as contemplated by the statute. Case law has interpreted the meaning of RCW 9A.44.120 and our appellate courts have given trial courts several criteria to consider in determining the reliability of a child victim's statements. A trial court should consider whether there is an apparent motive to lie, the general character of the victim, whether more than one person heard the statements, whether the statements were made spontaneously, the timing of the declaration and the relationship between the declarant and the witness, whether the possibility of the declarant's faulty recollection is

remote, and whether the circumstances surrounding the statements are such that there is no reason to suppose the declarant misrepresented the defendant's involvement. *State v. Ryan*, 103 Wash.2d 165, 691 P.2d 197 (1984); *State v. Parris*, 98 Wash.2d 140, 654 P.2d 77 (1982); *State v. Karpenski*, 94 Wn. App. 80, 971 P.2d 553 (1999); *State v. C.J.*, 148 Wa.2d 672 (2003).

There is no magic number of these factors that need to be met before the statements are found to be reliable. The Supreme Court has noted that "not every factor listed in *Ryan* needs to be satisfied before a court will find a child's hearsay statement reliable under the child hearsay statute." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wash.2d 613, 652, 790 P.2d 610 (1990). The court must determine whether the factors have been substantially met. *See State v. McKinney*, 50 Wn. App. 56 (1987). In *State v. Grogan*, 147 Wn.App. 511, 195 P.3d 1017 (2008), a first degree child molestation case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting statements the child gave to defendant's step-daughter regarding the abuse because there was no indication of a motive for the child to lie, the child was a generally truthful child and the statements were spontaneous. Although three of the *Ryan* factors did not indicate reliability, the factors were found to be substantially met. *State v. Grogan*, 147 Wn. App. 511 (2008).

Knight argues the trial court improperly found that M.P. was competent to testify. However, "a child's competence to testify at trial is not relevant to the issue of whether hearsay statements are admissible." State v. Borboa, 157 Wn.2d 108, 120, 135 P.3d 469 (2006). The admission of a child's statements under RCW 9A.44.120 does not depend on the child's competency to testify at trial, but on whether the comments and circumstances surrounding the statement indicate it is reliable. C.J., 148 Wn.2d at 685. Furthermore, the trial court was in the best position to determine competency. The determination of a child's competency rests "primarily with the trial judge who sees the witness, notices his manner, and considers his capacity and intelligence [,] ... matters that are not reflected in the written record for appellate review." State v. Allen, 70 Wn.2d 690, 692, 424 P.2d 1021 (1967)) M.P. was 10 years old at the time of the second trial. RP 670. All witnesses are presumed competent to testify. RCW 5.60.050. Age is not a proper criterion to determine the competency of a witness. State v. Allen, 70 Wn. 2d 600, 1967 (citing State v. Smith, 3 Wn.2d 543 101 P.2d 298 (1940)). From M.P.'s testimony at the 9A.44.120 hearing and at the trial, it is clear she was fully competent to testify; she understood the questions and was able to respond appropriately. M.P. was clearly competent based on all the surrounding circumstances and Knight's attorney appropriately did not contest this

finding. Furthermore, the trial court saw M.P., saw her demeanor and heard her testimony at the 9A.44.120 hearing and found that her competency was "obvious." RP 108. The trial court properly found she was clearly competent to testify and no legitimate argument could be made that M.P. was not competent to testify.

Knight argues that M.P. had a clear motive to lie about his involvement. However, at the 9A.44.120 hearing no evidence supporting M.P. having a motive to lie about Knight's involvement ever came out. Even the court noted that there was no evidence M.P. had any motive to lie. RP 109. M.P. and her mother never testified about anything that would give rise to an inference that M.P. had a motive to lie, and Knight did not testify at the 9A.44.120 hearing. At trial, the testimony only supported a finding that M.P. and M.P.'s family had no negative feelings towards Knight prior to this incident. M.P.'s mother had never met Knight before and she testified that she liked Knight's brother and the brother's girlfriend, her neighbors. RP 650. M.P. testified at trial that K and A were her closest friends and she did not get to play with them anymore after this incident occurred. RP 672-73. The evidence only shows that M.P. had no motive to lie about Knight's involvement in this case as her coming forward lost her her closest playmates and friends.

One of the factors to consider is whether more than one person heard the statements the child made that are sought to be admitted into evidence. M.P.'s statements, under this criteria, show particular reliability as her statements to her mother, though made only to one person, were then repeated that same day to two separate police officers. M.P.'s statements to police officers were also recorded. This factor weighed heavily in favor of admitting M.P.'s statements.

Knight further argues the statements M.P. made were not "spontaneous." For purposes of the child hearsay analysis, a "spontaneous" statement is a statement that a child volunteers in response to questions that are not leading and do not in any way suggest an answer. *State v. Carlson*, 61 Wn.App. 865, 872, 812 P.2d 536 (1991). Unlike an excited utterance, the statements need not be contemporaneous with the event in question. *Id; State v. Young*, 60 Wn. App. 95 (1991). M.P.'s statements to her mother were clearly "spontaneous" as meant by case law. M.P.'s mother had no idea what M.P. was about to disclose, and did not contemplate she was about to hear her child had been molested. Further, M.P.'s mother asked an open-ended, non-leading question, asking her daughter to tell her what was going on because M.P. was acting weirdly. M.P.'s statements to the detectives were also "spontaneous" as meant by the statute. The detectives testified, and the admitted recording

corroborates, they asked open, non-leading questions of M.P. M.P. is the one who volunteered the information and statements regarding the molestation. None of the detectives' questions in any way suggested an answer. M.P.'s statements here were "spontaneous" and thus this factor weighs in favor of admission of M.P.'s statements.

Knight also argues that the timing of M.P.'s disclosure also favors exclusion. Knight argues that M.P. got in trouble from Knight and that is what prompted the disclosure. However no evidence of M.P. getting in trouble was presented at the 9A.44.120 hearing; the court did not have this allegation to consider. Furthermore, M.P. disclosed to her mother within an hour of the molestation occurring, and discussed the incident with police that same day. No significant period of time passed in which M.P.'s memory was likely to fade. Furthermore, she disclosed to the person with whom she was most comfortable, and closest to, at a time when she was clearly having a difficult time emotionally processing what had happened to her. The circumstances surrounding her disclosure to her mother show only that these statements were reliable.

The factor of M.P.'s recall potentially being faulty heavily weighs in favor of admission. M.P. was not a more typical child molestation victim recalling events that happened months or years prior, but made statements about an incident that occurred only one hour prior to her

mother, and several hours prior to police. The likelihood of faulty recall about an event that occurred so close in time to when the statements were made is quite small.

A vast majority of the *Ryan* factors weigh heavily in favor of admission of M.P.'s statements to both her mother and to the detectives. The trial court indicated it was considering the *Ryan* factors and "indicia of reliability" and found that the statements M.P. made came "across with a fairly high level of indicia of reliability." RP 109. The trial court considered the proper law, considered the evidence with which it was presented, and properly found M.P.'s statements to her mother and the detectives was admissible under RCW 9A.44.120. The trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion and Knight's claim should be denied.

Even if this court finds that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the statements M.P. made to her mother and the detectives, the error was harmless. The error in admission of a child's hearsay statements is one of constitutional magnitude, and thus constitutional harmless error analysis would apply. *State v. Rohrich*, 82 Wn.App. 674, 679, 918 P.2d 512 (1996). When an error is of constitutional magnitude, the error is harmless if "the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to the same outcome." *State v. Mayer*, 184 Wn.2d 548, 566, 362 P.3d 745 (2015) (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664,

688, 327 P.3d 660 (2014)). The statements M.P. made to her mother and the detectives were markedly similar to the testimony she gave at trial. The untainted evidence from M.P.'s mother and the detectives show a little girl who was emotionally upset, felt fear and shame about an incident that had occurred. This evidence along with M.P.'s testimony overwhelmingly shows Knight's guilt. Any error was harmless.

II. There was sufficient evidence to support Knight's conviction for child molestation in the first degree.

Knight claims the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to convict him of Child Molestation. There was more than sufficient evidence presented at trial that Knight touched M.P. for the purpose of sexual gratification. Knight's claim fails.

The State is required under the Due Process Clause to prove all the necessary elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, § 1; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 362-65, 90 S. Ct 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn.App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 893 (2006). When determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Evidence is sufficient if *any rational finder of fact* could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable

doubt. *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875, 883, 329 P.3d 888 (2014). An appellant challenging the sufficiency of evidence presented at a trial "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences therefrom are drawn in favor of the State. *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). When examining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is just as reliable as direct evidence. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

"Criminal intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence or from conduct, where the intent is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." *State v. Billups*, 62 Wn.App. 122, 126, 813 P.2d 149 (1991) (citing *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 506, 664 P.2d 466 (1983) and *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980)). The appellate court's role does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility of witnesses or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "'It is not necessary that [we] could find the defendant guilty. Rather, it is sufficient if a reasonable jury could come to this conclusion."' *United States v. Enriquez-Estrada*, 999 F.2d 1355, 1358 (9th Cir. 1993) (overruled in part on other grounds by *United States v. Peterson*, 140 F.3d 819, 822 (9th Cir. 1998)) (quoting *United States v. Nicholson*, 677 F.2d 706, 708 (9th Cir. 1982)). The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997) (*citing State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)). "The fact finder...is in the best position to evaluate conflicting evidence, witness credibility, and the weight to be assigned to the evidence." *State v. Olinger*, 130 Wn.App. 22, 26, 121 P.3d 724 (2005) (citations omitted).

Knight argues there was insufficient evidence to prove that he touched M.P. for the purpose of sexual gratification because the touching was done over M.P.'s clothes. The type of touching M.P. described supports a rational jury finding Knight touched her in an intimate body part for the purpose of sexual gratification.

To prove Knight committed the crime of Child Molestation in the First Degree the State had to prove that he knowingly had "sexual contact" with M.P., a person who was less than the age of twelve and to whom Knight was not married and that Knight was at least thirty-six months older than M.P. RCW 9A.44.083. Knight only contests the element of "sexual contact" on appeal. In determining whether the sexual contact element of a child molestation charge has been satisfied, our appellate courts must look to the "totality of the facts and circumstances presented."

Harstad, 914 Wn.App. at 21 (citing State v. Brooks, 45 Wn.App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986)).

"Sexual contact" means any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party. RCW 9A.44.010(2). Intimate contact occurs when "a person of common intelligence could fairly be expected to know that, under the circumstances, the parts touched were intimate and therefore the touching was improper." *State v. Jackson*, 145 Wn.App. 814, 819, 187 P.3d 321 (2008). Body parts that are in "close proximity to the primary erogenous areas" can be considered intimate body parts. *In re Welfare of Adams*, 24 Wn. App. 517, 521, 601 P.2d 995 (1979). It is common sense that the buttocks are an intimate body part. *See In re Welfare of Adams*, 24 Wn.App. 517, 520, 601 P.2d 995 (1979) (stating "[a]s with the buttocks, we believe that the hips are a sufficiently intimate part of the anatomy that a person of common intelligence has fair notice that the nonconsensual touching of them is prohibited....").

Our Courts have held that proof that an unrelated adult with no caretaking function has touched the intimate parts of a child supports the inference the touching was for the purpose of sexual gratification. *State v. Wilson*, 56 Wash.App. 63, 68, 782 P.2d 224 (1989), *review denied*, 114 Wash.2d 1010 (1990); *State v. Ramirez*, 46 Wash.App. 223, 730 P.2d 98

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